RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2011 AT 10.00AM

PRESENT: Councillor Layden (Chairman), Councillors Allison,

Bowman S, Watson and Whalen.

ROSP.79/11 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Bainbridge, Bowditch and Hendry.

ROSP.80/11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Watson declared a personal interest in accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct in respect of Agenda Item A.4 (c) – Revised Revenue Base Estimates and Updated Medium term Financial Plan Projections. The interest related to the fact that he was a Member of Cumbria County Council.

ROSP.81/11 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

RESOLVED – 1) That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 August 2011 be agreed as a correct record of the meeting and signed by the Chairman.

2) That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2011 be noted.

ROSP.82/11 CALL-IN OF DECISIONS

There were no items which had been the subject of call-in.

ROSP.83/11 OVERVIEW REPORT AND WORK PROGRAMME

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer (Mrs Edwards) presented report OS.32/11 which provided an overview of matters related to the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel's work.

Mrs Edwards reported:

• That the Forward Plan of Executive key decisions, covering the period 1 December 2011 – 31 March 2012 had been published on 17 November 2011 and was included in the Overview Report. There two items in the Plan relevant to this Panel had both been included on this agenda:

KD.024/11 - Budget Process 2012-13

KD.030/11 – Mid Year Performance Report

• Minute Excerpt EX.128/11 from the Executive held on 31 October had been circulated to Members.

- Councillors Allison, Bainbridge and Bowditch had been appointed to the Shared Services Task and Finish Group and there was an opportunity for other Members to be involved if they so wished.
- The Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel had completed their scrutiny review of the Disabled Facilities Grant. The Task Group report had been agreed by the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 24 November and a copy of the report had been included in the overview report for Members information.

Members congratulated the Task and Finish Group on an excellent report and commented that the Group had gained a lot of useful and interesting information.

RESOLVED 1) That the Overview Report incorporating the Work Programme and Forward Plan items relevant to this Panel be noted.

2) That the report of the Disabled Facilities Task and Finish Group be noted.

ROSP.84/11 PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORTS

(a) Corporate Plan: Performance Report

The Policy and Performance Officer (Mr Oliver) submitted Report PPP.19/11 which gave a summary of the progress made in the delivery of each of the Corporate Plan key Actions.

Mr Oliver reported that the contents of the report had been determined by the Senior Management Team and the Key Action Red, Amber and Green (RAG) ratings had been assessed by the relevant Assistant Director.

In considering the report Members raised the following comments and questions:

• Members were concerned that the progress percentage of the key actions was low and that the progress would not reach 100% by the target date of March 2012.

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) responded that the key actions came from the Corporate Plan and some of the actions would be for a period of more than just one year.

The Town Clerk and Chief Executive (Dr Gooding) added that each Assistant Director had agreed the RAG rating for their own key actions and they would take responsibility for the progress of the action. The percentage's came from the Covalent actions and he agreed that this may not be the most useful way of monitoring projects.

• A Member commented that the document was 'light' and had some concern about the level of input that the Panel could make as it had already been agreed by SMT.

Dr Gooding explained that the previous performance reports had been very lengthy and included a lot of operational risks, he felt it was too long in comparison to the Corporate Plan that it was monitoring. There was some work being undertaken to change the report so that the document monitored the matters that were important to Members and communities.

A Member requested that future documents included some evidence of the achievements and progress that was being made.

What service would the City Council carry out on behalf of the Police?

Dr Gooding responded that the Council would offer a reception service for the Police and discussions were taking place to determine the details of the service that could be offered. Cumbria Police Station's front counter service is run by civilian staff so the Customer Contact Centre should be able to run a similar service. Mr Mason confirmed that the joint service was moving ahead and City Council staff would require CRB checks before the service would become operational. He felt that the joint working was an exciting development.

RESOLVED – 1) That the Corporate Plan – Mid Year Performance Report be welcomed.

2) That future performance reports include more detailed information showing how progress was being made.

(b) Organisational Development Plan

The Organisational Development Manager (Ms Titley) submitted Report CE.30/11 which set out key objectives, outcomes for employees, key actions and measures of success for organisational development issues.

Ms Titley explained that the priorities in the Organisational Development (OD) Plan were organisational development, leadership development, skills development, recruitment, recruitment and retention and recognition and reward.

She outlined the progress made against each of the priorities highlighting the success of the Institute of Leadership and Management (ILM) Level 3 Award and the range of NVQs that had been offered to staff. She explained that the Council had taken on its first apprentice in October and another apprentice would join the City Council this month. Ms Titley brought the new e-learning site to the attention of Members. The site would be launched in December and would give staff and Members access to a range of online courses with new courses being added each month.

Ms Titley outlined the progress made with regard to the introduction of the holiday purchase scheme and the wellbeing events that would be held in within the Civic Centre in coming weeks.

In considering the report Members raised the following comments and questions:

• How did the City Council compare with other authorities with regard to the number of people working towards a qualification?

Ms Titley responded that the number of people working towards a qualification in the City Council was higher than other authorities due to the number of people taking the ILM Level 3 qualification. She added that the Council had always had a strong emphasis on learning and development and had given staff the opportunity to gain good, relevant qualifications. The Council were also proactive in ensuring that they received the best value for money and secured a number of free courses.

• It would be useful for the Panel to receive a report on the authority's sickness absence statistics.

Dr Gooding commented that he had not submitted a report on sickness absence before now as he had wanted to wait until he could produce a report which showed the statistics and a clear way for the Council to move forward.

Would sabbaticals be added to the range of employee benefits?

Ms Titley confirmed that the Employment Panel had agreed not to move forward with sabbaticals at the present time.

• Members were concerned about the funding of the health and wellbeing initiatives that were being held within the authority and the benefits of them to staff and to the Council.

Dr Gooding understood Members concerns but felt that it was good business to look after and protect the workforce. He added that the sessions were being funded from the income from the holiday purchase scheme and not directly from the Council's budget.

• Would the e-learning package be interactive and would staff have the opportunity to use the package during working hours?

Ms Titley confirmed that the packages were all interactive. Some of the courses were quite short and would only take 15 minutes to complete. The package would also bookmark the users place to enable them to go in and out of the courses as they wished. There was no protocol for how the package could be used during working hours and it was hoped that staff would use their own judgement for the time that they accessed the packages. Operational staff could access the package via the Tech Zone at Bousteads Grassing or the Training Room within the Council.

She added that the e-learning site had twelve subject options on the first screen then each subject had a number of units within. There would be a drop in session for all Members and Staff on Thursday 8 December giving more details of the e-learning package and the courses offered.

 A Member asked for some background information on the holiday purchase scheme.

Ms Titley informed the Panel that SMT and the Employment Panel wanted to offer staff something that was of benefit to them as part of the whole benefits package. The scheme would not be taken up by all staff and those that did take up the scheme would still need their holidays approved by their line manager. The Council already supported a variety of different staff leave entitlements. The scheme would allow staff who just started at the authority to purchase extra leave and would be beneficial to staff with caring duties or who wanted a special holiday.

RESOLVED –1) That the Organisation Development Plan be welcomed;

2) That a report on the City Council's sickness absence be submitted to a future meeting of the Panel.

ROSP.85/11 BUDGET 2013/13 to 2016/17

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) gave a presentation to the Panel to assist Members in their consideration of the Budget 2012/13 to 2016/17.

Mr Mason outlined the Budget policy context, revenue projections, the main revenue assumptions which had been made, new spending pressures, efficiencies requested by Council, savings proposals and income projections, potential revised revenue projections, proposed capital programme, capital resource projections and key Budget dates.

RESOLVED – That the budget overview be welcomed.

ROSP.86/11 MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT AND ECONOMY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANELS

The excerpts of the minutes of the meetings of the Community and Environment and Economy Overview and Scrutiny Panels held on 24 November and 1 December 2011 respectively were submitted for consideration.

RESOLVED – That the Minutes be noted.

ROSP.87/11 2011/12 REVISED REVENUE BASE ESTIMATES AND UPDATED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN PROJECTIONS: 2012/13 TO 2016/17

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report RD.63/11 which provided a summary of the Council's revised revenue base estimates

for 2011/12, together with base estimates for 2012/13 and updated reserve projections to 2016/17. The report had been prepared in accordance with the guiding principles for the formulation of the budget over the next five year planning period as set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and Charging Policy; Capital Strategy; and Asset Management Plan agreed by Council on 13 September 2011. The report set out known revisions to the MTFP projections, although there were a number of significant factors affecting the budget that were currently unresolved. He reported in some detail on those key issues which included:

- (a) Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR)
- (b) Transformation

Mr Mason informed Members that the potential impact of any new spending pressures and new savings identified were not reflected in the report, as there were a number of options for Members consideration. It was, however, clear at this early stage of the budget process that all of the pressures currently identified could not be accommodated within existing Council resources. Decisions would need to be made to limit budget increases to unavoidable and high priority issues, together with maximising savings and efficiencies (and probable use of reserves) to enable a balanced budget position to be recommended to Council in February 2012.

He summarised the movements in base estimates and highlighted for Members the updated MTFP projections; the projected impact on revenue reserves; challenges facing the Council; and Efficiency Agenda targets.

The Executive had on 22 November 201 (EX.140/11) considered the report and decided:

- "1. That the revised base estimates for 2011/12 and base estimates for 2012/13 be noted.
- 2. That the current Medium Term Financial Plan projections, which would continue to be updated throughout the budget process as key issues became clearer and decisions were taken, be noted."

In considering the report, Members raised the following questions and observations:

• The budget was based on the 2.8% inflation rate, was there any indication that this would change?

Mr Mason responded that detailed core estimates were being reviewed line by line by the finance team to ensure that the inflation estimates were correct.

Did staff receive pay increments?

Mr Mason confirmed that staff received pay increments and these were included in the pay award assumption.

- The Small Scale Community Projects was a valuable budget for local communities and it was in the report as a saving, the Panel asked that consideration be given to retaining this budget.
- What was the expenditure and income for car parking within the City?

Mr Mason responded that the income was budgeted at £1.5m but the actual income was approximately £1.2m and the expenditure was approximately £600,000 to £700,000 per year.

Dr Gooding informed the Panel that discussions were taking place with the County Council regarding the on street parking enforcement and he was confident that a resolution could be found to the satisfaction of everyone involved. Both City and County Councillors were keen to move this on and avoid having two sets of parking enforcement.

RESOLVED – That the Executive give consideration to retaining the Small Scale Community Projects budget .

ROSP.88/11 SUMMARY OF NEW REVENUE SPENDING PRESSURES

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report RD.64/11 summarising the new revenue spending pressures and reduced income projections that had emerged as part of the current year budget monitoring procedures and which would need to be considered as part of the 2012/13 budget process. The issues were to be considered in the light of the Council's corporate priorities.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.146/11) received the report and forwarded it to Overview and Scrutiny Panels for consideration as part of the 2012/13 budget process.

Details of the specific areas where the Panel had service responsibility in addition to its overall Budget scrutiny responsibility were as detailed on the Agenda for the meeting.

Members then considered and commented upon the report as follows:

• A Member raised concerns that the forecast for the Lanes Head Rent had not taken into account the current trend in shopping and may not reflect the downward tend. He felt that the whole business model had changed and regard should be given to the whole pattern of business.

Dr Gooding commented that the strategic thinking of the authority and Members was about the growth of the City and the budget supported this thinking. The primary intention of the budget was to take the best risk based estimate which would protect the financial viability of the Council. He agreed that consideration should be given to the trends but if the budget was over pessimistic then services would be impacted that need not have been.

Mr Mason added that the budget put the recovery period for the Council back by two years and felt that it reflected what was happening in the economy.

RESOLVED – That report RD.64/11 be noted.

ROSP.89/11 SUMMARY OF SAVINGS DELIVERED AND NEW PROPOSALS

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report RD.65/11 summarising proposals for savings and additional income generation to be considered as part of the 2012/13 budget process. He reminded Members that the Savings Strategy approved by Council on 13 September 2011 and endorsed in the Medium Term Financial Plan approved by Council on 13 September 2011 had concentrated on the following areas to deliver the savings required to produce a balanced longer term budget:

- (a) Asset Review;
- (b) Service delivery models
- (c) Transformation Agenda

Mr Mason reported that, at this stage, the Executive (and Overview and Scrutiny) were being asked to give initial consideration to the new proposals for further permanent reductions in base expenditure budgets and also increases to income budgets from 2012/13 onwards. He added that the requests needed to be considered in the light of projected budget shortfall contained in report RD.63/11 and the spending pressures (report RD.64/11).

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.147/11) considered the report and decided:

- "1. That the proposed reductions to the base budget from 2012/13 onwards, as set out in Report RD.65/11, be received and forwarded to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panels for consideration as part of the budget consultation process.
- 2. That it be noted that the Senior Management Team would continue to investigate efficiencies and savings in accordance with the Transformational Savings Strategy."

The specific areas where the Panel had service responsibility in addition to its overall Budget scrutiny responsibility were as detailed on the Agenda for the meeting.

RESOLVED – That report RD.65/11 be noted.

ROSP.90/11 REVIEW OF CHARGES 2012/13

a) Local Environment

Report LE.23/11 was submitted setting out the proposed fees and charges for areas falling within the responsibility of the Local Environment Directorate. The proposed charges related to income from City Centre usage by external organisations, Car Parking, Allotments, Sports Pitches, Environment Quality, Food Safety, Waste Services and Bereavement Services.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.141/11) received the report and resolved:

"That the Executive:

- 1. agreed for consultation the proposed charges, as set out in Report LE.23/11, relevant Appendices and the Addendum; and noted the impact of those charges on income generation, as detailed within the report. (The Executive would agree an implementation date at their December 2011 meeting).
- 2. granted delegated responsibility to the Assistant Director (Local Environment), in consultation with the Environment and Housing Portfolio Holder, for making any changes to the charges set out for the use of parks and green spaces and to have the Scheme of Delegation amended accordingly."

RESOLVED – That report LE.23/11 be noted.

b) Community Engagement

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report CD.25/11 which set out the charges for the Hostel Service annual charge reviews falling within the responsibility of the Community Engagement Directorate.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.142/11) received the report and agreed for consultation the increase in charges with effect from 1 April 2012; and noted the impact thereof on income generation as detailed within the report.

RESOLVED – That report CD.25/11 be noted.

c) Economic Development

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report ED.39/11 setting out the proposed fees and charges for the services falling within the remit of the Economic Development Directorate. The proposed charges related to income from Tourism and City Centre Management, Assembly Rooms, Enterprise Centre, Planning, Development Control and Building Control.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.143/11) received the report and agreed for consultation the proposed charges with effect from 1 April 2012;

and noted the impact thereof on income generation as detailed within the report.

In response to a Member's question the Assistant Director (Governance) (Mr Lambert) explained that some of the charge within building control and planning were discretionary but it should be noted that some charges in building control could only make charges which would allow the service to break even and not make a profit.

RESOLVED – That report ED.39/11 be noted.

d) Governance

Report GD.62/11 was submitted setting out the proposed fees and charges for areas falling within the remit of the Governance Directorate.

The proposed charges in respect of Electoral Registers; Room Lettings, Minute Books and Local Land Searches, the acceptance of which would result in an anticipated level of income of £154,400 in 2012/13.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.144/11) received the report agreed for consultation the proposed charges with effect from 1 April 2012 and noted the impact thereof on income generation.

RESOLVED – That report GD.62/11 be noted.

e) Licensing

Report GD.58/11 was submitted for information setting out the fees and charges for areas falling within the responsibility of the Licensing Section of the Governance Directorate. The Regulatory Panel had on 19 October 2011 approved the fees.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.145/11) noted that the Licensing Charges had been approved by the Regulatory Panel on 19 October 2011.

RESOLVED – That report GD.58/11 be noted.

ROSP.91/11 REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2011/12 AND PROVISIONAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2012/13 to 2016/17

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report RD.66/11 detailing the revised Capital Programme for 2011/12, together with the proposed method of financing. The report summarised the proposed programme for 2012/13 to 2016/17 in the light of the new capital pressures identified, and summarised the estimated and much reduced capital resources available to fund the programme.

Mr Mason then outlined the current and future commitments, together with four new spending proposals. Details of the current commitments and new capital spending proposals were provided.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.148/11) considered the report and decided:

"That the Executive:

- 1. Noted the revised capital programme and relevant financing for 2011/12 as set out in Appendices A and B of Report RD.66/11;
- 2. Recommended that the City Council approve slippage of £4,257,000 from 2011/12 into 2012/13;
- 3. Had given initial consideration to the capital spending requests for 2012/13 to 2016/17 contained in Report RD.66/11 in the light of the estimated available resources; and
- 4. Noted that any capital scheme for which funding had been approved by the Council may only proceed after a full report, including business case and financial appraisal, had been approved."

In response to questions Mr Mason provided an update on the following:

Old Town Hall - the funding would only be available for a set period of time and work was being carried out to determine the options available.

Vehicles and Plant – There had been a carry forward of £200,000 for the vehicles and plant and the tender process had begun to replace the equipment in 2012/13, some vehicles would not be replaced next year and the budget had been re-profiled to reflect this.

Roman Frontier – This had now been completed.

Investment Strategy – The strategy was moving into phase 2 sales. The Environment and Economy Overview and Scrutiny Panel had requested an update report on the strategy but it was felt that it was still too early in the process to report back.

Dr Gooding reminded the Panel that the initial strategy had been to use any income from sales to invest in other assets. It was now felt that it was an inappropriate time to invest in property but the Council would still need vision and have some projects ready to move forward when opportunities arose. He added that there would be an update in the new year on the options available for the Morton site.

He explained that the Asset Management Plan and the Medium Term Financial Plan set out how the income would be used initially for the Council's capital receipts; once the target had been met additional income could be used for other projects.

ROSP.92/11 TREASURY MANAGEMENT JULY - SEPTEMBER 2011 AND FORECASTS FOR 2012/13 to 2016/17

The Assistant Director (Resources) (Mr Mason) submitted report RD.67/11 providing the regular quarterly report on Treasury Transactions, together with an interim report on Treasury Management as required under the Financial Procedure Rules. The report also discussed the City Council's Treasury Management forecasts for 2012/13 with projections 2016/17, and information regarding the requirements of the Prudential Code on local authority capital finance.

The Executive had on 22 November 2011 (EX.149/11) received the report and noted the projections for 2012/13 to 2016/17.

Mr Mason reported on the investment rates and the reasons for short investment periods.

RESOLVED – That report RD.67/11 be noted.

ROSP.93/11 BACKGROUND FINANCIAL REPORTS

The following reports had been circulated to the Committee by way of background information:

 RD.62/11 – Revenue Budget Overview and Monitoring Report: April to September 2011;

In response to a question Dr Gooding explained that the tipping charges as set out in the report were a consequence of the sale of trade waste business, he agreed to circulate a full response to all Members.

 RD.61/11 – Capital Budget Overview and Monitoring Report: April to September 2011.

In response to a question Mr Mason agreed to circulate a written update on the Decent Homes Strategy and the Empty Homes Strategy.

RESOLVED – That reports RD.62/11 and RD.61/11 be received.

(The meeting ended at 12.30pm)